STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 05 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

OSCAR LEE DANTZLER,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000192

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. PACHAK
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in sending the forgery indictment back to the jury for deliberations when it contained language which was not relevant to appellant's case and it denied him a fair trial as the language included accomplice liability which was not involved in appellant's case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was convicted of forgery after a jury trial held before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman on January 12 – 13, 2014, in Lexington County. A three year sentence was imposed. Erik Drylie, Esquire and Dayne Phillips, Esquire, were the trial attorneys. Sutania Radlein, Esquire, and Rhonda Patterson, Esquire, were the assistant solicitors.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in sending the forgery indictment back to the jury for deliberations when it contained language which was not relevant to appellant's case and it denied him a fair trial as the language included accomplice liability which was not included in appellant's case.

The indictment for forgery in this case alleged the following:

That Oscar Lee Dantzler did, in Lexington County, South Carolina, on or about October 23, 2013, falsely make, forge, or counterfeit, cause or procure to be falsely made, forged, or counterfeited; or willfully act or assist in the false making, forging, or counterfeiting of any writing or instrument of writing; utter or publish as true any false, forged, or counterfeited writing or instrument of writing; or willingly act or assist in any of the premises, with an intention to defraud any person, to wit: did utter a forged counterfeit check, such having a value of less than ten thousand (\$10,000) dollars, in violation of § 16-13-0010 of the South Carolina Code of Laws of 1976, as amended.

What appellant did was to present and cash a forged check on the business account of John Covert at First Citizens Bank in Cayce, South Carolina. (R. p. 4, lines 16-20.) After the trial court instructed the jury on the law, the following transpired:

MR. PHILLIPS: Your Honor, we have a matter just to put on the record real quick.

THE COURT: All right.

MS. RADLEIN: Your Honor, the State's okay with this, but the language of the indictment is the entire statute as well as it indicates the value of the forgery, less than ten thousand, and so if the Court's okay with this, can we simply send back a short verdict form instead of the indictment?

THE COURT: Why?

MR. PHILLIPS: Our objection is in sending the indictment back to the jury as it includes that assist language and the State's theory was that there wasn't, you know, an accomplice liability issue, that it was solely Mr. Dantzler who cashed the check. So if the indictment goes back, we would request that it be redacted, but the Solicitor's agreed not to send the indictment back and we are agreeing with that.

THE COURT: Well, I'm sending the indictment back.

MR. PHILLIPS: Okay. Well, then we would object to that and certainly need to have it redacted to make it nonprejudicial.

THE COURT: All right. It's not – a redacted copy is not going back. The indictment is the indictment. There's nothing prejudicial about the indictment and I don't see any point in preparing a new indictment. I told the jury that they will get the indictment and they will get the indictment.

MR. PHILLIPS: Yes, Your Honor. I do have to put on the record that

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. PHILLIPS: -- sending back the indictment as is with the assist language would deny Mr. Dantzler's his Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the United States Constitution. In Article I, Section 3, it would be fundamentally unfair to do that and it would be a violation of his due process rights.

THE COURT: Maybe we'll find the answer to that question at a later time.

MR. PHILLIPS: Thank you, Your Honor.

(R. p. 118, line 18 – p. 120, line 7.)

It should be noted that when the trial court instructed the jury on forgery, it did not include any language on accomplice liability. (R. p. 112, lines 8 – 22.)

In Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 709 S.E.2d 671 (2011) the question before the court was whether a trial attorney was ineffective in failing to object to supplemental jury instructions that allowed the jury to convict a defendant for an act that was not alleged in the indictment. The court held that trial counsel was ineffective in that regard.

The court reasoned as follows:

“In South Carolina ‘[i]t is a rule of universal observance in administering the criminal law that a defendant must be convicted, if convicted at all, of the particular offense charged in the bill of indictment.’” *State v. Gunn*, 313 S.C. 124, 136, 437 S.E.2d 75, 82 (1993) (quoting *State v. Cody*, 180 S.C. 417, 423, 186 S.E. 165, 167 (1936).) “A material variance between charge and proof entitles the defendant to a directed verdict, such a variance is not material if it is not an element of the offense.” *Id.* (citation omitted); see 41 Am. Jur. 2d *Indictments and Informations* § 252 (2005) (stating that one of the two ways an indictment can be improperly modified is through “a variance, whereby the charging terms of the indictment are left unaltered, but the evidence offered at trial proves facts materially different from those alleged in the indictment.”)

“[W]hile a conviction may be sustained under an indictment which is defective because it omits essential elements of the offense, such as not true when the indictment facially charges a complete offense and the State presents evidence which convicts under a different theory than that alleged.” *Thomason v. State*, 892 S.W.2d 8, 11 (Tex.Crim.App. 1994) *434 (citations omitted.) “A conviction under the latter circumstance violates principles of due process...because the State has failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which a defendant was charged.” *Id.* (citations omitted), see 41 Am. Jur.2d *Indictments & Informations* § 256 (2005). (“A material variance that violates a defendant’s substantial right to be tried only on charges presented in an indictment constitutes fatal error and warrants a reversal on an appeal of a judgment of conviction of the offense not charged in the indictment.”)

* * *

The judge’s supplemental instructions, which were confusing and contradictory, resulted in the erroneous directive that the jury could find Bailey guilty of homicide by child abuse if it found an act of “abuse *or* neglect.” Such an instruction was in direct contravention of the specific act alleged in the indictment and, thus, constituted a material variance or a “constructive amendment” to the indictment.

* * *

In terms of the merits, we hold trial counsel was deficient in failing to object to the supplemental jury instructions as the judge perpetuated the jury’s confusion that they could convict Bailey of homicide by child abuse based on an unindicted allegation of neglect. We find that a confluence of the lone specific allegation of physical abuse in the indictment and the jury’s expressed confusion about the necessity of evidence of physical abuse by Bailey with the insufficient jury instructions created a structural due process defect that deprived Bailey of a fair trial.

In *State v. Robinson*, 306 S.C. 399, 412 S.E.2d 411 (1991) the court wrote the following:

The trial judge must charge the jury with the “current and correct law” of the State. S.C. Const. art. V, § 17; *State v. Adams*, 277 S.C. 115, S.E.2d 582, 585 (1981). When an incorrect charge is given, the court must withdraw it “[m]erely superimposing a correct statement of law over an erroneous charge only fosters confusion and prejudice.” *State v. Patrick*, 289 S.C. 301, 308, 345 S.E.2d 481, 485 (1986); *State v. Peterson*, 287 S.C. 244, 335 S.E.2d 800 (1985); *State v. Adams, supra*.