STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County
Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

AUG 19 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

OSCAR LEE DANTZLER,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2015-000192

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DONALD V. MYERS
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

Lexington County Judicial Center
205 East Main Street
Lexington, SC 29072
(803) 359-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court did not err in providing the indictment to the jury; Appellant was not prejudiced by surplusage in the indictment since the jury was advised the indictment was not evidence and evidence overwhelmingly supported the verdict for forgery.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Dantzler was indicted for forgery. At the conclusion of his trial on January 12-13, 2014, the jury found Dantzler guilty as charged. The Honorable Clifton B. Newman sentenced Dantzler to three years imprisonment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Denise O'Neal, a fraud investigator for First Citizen's Bank, received an alert from the Dentsville branch in Columbia of suspicious activity on the Covert Homes account. O'Neal contacted owner John Covert who confirmed that he did not issue the check. Covert noted the check was a good replica of the checks he uses except that it does not contain his cell phone number that appears on the checks he uses. The check was for \$1,561.30 and made out to Appellant Oscar Dantzler. Dantzler is seen in State's Exhibit No. 4 entering the bank branch. ROA. pp. 8-15; p. 21; pp. 26-27; pp. 31-34.

Detective Jason Merrill arrested Dantzler. He noted that when he met Dantzler, Dantzler limped just like the individual in the video. ROA. pp. 42-43. Dantzler said he was never at the bank before and claimed that was not him in the video. Dantzler claimed he had a twin brother. Then he said the alleged brother was not a twin. Dantzler never provided the name of the purported sibling. ROA. pp. 47-48. Dantzler verified he had pins in his leg and cannot bend the leg well. ROA. p. 50. Detective Merrill opined on cross-examination that it was "a pretty good case in my book." ROA. p. 52, line 15.

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in providing the indictment to the jury; Appellant was not prejudiced by surplusage in the indictment since the jury was advised the indictment was not evidence and evidence overwhelmingly supported the verdict for forgery.

Dantzler argues he was prejudiced by the trial court's decision to provide the indictment to the jury during deliberations because it contained language alternatively alleging Dantzler assisting in the forgery as well as being the principle in the forgery. The trial court advised the jury that the indictment was not evidence, and Dantzler concedes that the trial court properly instructed the jury on the elements of the case. Therefore, there is no error and no prejudice.

The body of the indictment alleges the following:

That Oscar Lee Dantzler did, in Lexington County, South Carolina, on or about October 23, 2013, falsely make, forge, or counterfeit; cause or procure to be falsely made, forged, or counterfeited; or willfully act or assist in the false making, forging, or counterfeiting of any writing or instrument of writing; or willingly act or assist in any of the premises, with an intention to defraud any person, to wit: did utter a forged counterfeit check, such having a value of less than ten thousand (\$10,000) dollars, in violation of § 16-13-0010 of the South Carolina Code of Laws of 1976, as amended.

ROA. at 133 (emphasis removed).

The trial court advised the jury that the indictment was not evidence, advising the jury as follows:

Now the fact that the Defendant, Oscar Lee Dantzler, was charged and indicted in this case is not evidence in this case and cannot be considered by you as evidence of guilt; nor does it create any presumption or inference of guilt. This

indictment is simply the formal written instrument which contains a charge made against the defendant. This indictment is the formal document by which this case is brought into court.

ROA. p. 110, lines 2-9. Further, the trial court admonished the jury to base their verdict “solely on the testimony of the sworn witnesses who took the stand, the exhibits received into evidence, and the law which I have stated.” ROA. p. 113, lines 20-22. The trial court provided the trial court’s instructions to the jury. ROA. p. 114, lines 19-25.

“A variance between an allegation of the indictment and the proof is immaterial if the unproved allegation is surplusage.” State v. James, 321 S.C. 75, 75, 472 S.E.2d 38, 43 (Ct. App. 1996). A conviction will not be overturned if evidence supports a narrower charge than the language contained in the indictment if the narrower charge is fully contained within the indictment. Id.

In James, the defendant argued that his conviction for trafficking under a state-wide grand jury indictment should have been reversed because the indictment alleged a multi-county conspiracy and alleged that the defendant provided financial assistance or aided and abetted the trafficking of crack cocaine. Evidence tended to show only conspiracy and only in York County. Id. at 75, 472 S.E.3d at 41-42. This Court rejected the defendant’s argument because multi-county involvement was not an element of trafficking. This Court further noted that the indictment was sufficient because it contained the narrower charge of conspiracy even though there was no evidence supporting the financial assistance or aiding and abetting language in the indictment. Id. at 75, 472 S.E.2d at 43.

In State v. Evans, 23 S.C. 209 (1885), an indictment alleged the defendant stole three

pigs belonging to Toney Jackson. The evidence at trial proved that only one of the three pigs belonged to Jackson. In dicta, the Supreme Court noted the evidence was sufficient to survive directed verdict on the charge of larceny of livestock since evidence proved one of the pigs belonged to the alleged victim. Id. at 20.

In State v. Batchelor, 377 S.C. 341, 661 S.E.2d 58 (2008), the evidence indicated that Batchelor decided he was too intoxicated to drive his truck and made one of his three minor sons drive. The son was also intoxicated. All three sons died in a crash with an oncoming vehicle while other minors in the vehicle were injured. The indictment for the felony DUI offenses charged Batchelor as a principal even though he was not driving at the time of the crash. The Supreme Court rejected Batchelor's argument that the indictment was insufficient because it failed to allege he was aiding and abetting the crime based on the well-settled rule that an indictment charging the defendant as a principal will support a conviction for the defendant based on evidence of aiding and abetting. Id. at 344-345, 661 S.E.2d at 59-60. Interestingly, Dantzler is arguing the opposite in this case – he is alleging error for an indictment charging him both as a principal and as aiding and abetting.

Dantzler's reliance on Bailey v. State, 392 S.C. 422, 709 S.E.2d 671 (2011) is misplaced. In Bailey, the indictment for homicide by child abuse alleged Bailey inflicted injuries on the victim – in other words that Bailey abused the victim. However, the trial court instructed the jury they could find Bailey guilty if the State proved abuse or neglect. Accordingly, the Supreme Court found the trial court's charge enlarged the scope of the charges beyond what was alleged in the indictment. Id. at 435-36, 709 S.E.2d at 678. In the instant case, the trial court simply reduced the scope of the indictment, the opposite of what

occurred in Bailey. Therefore, Bailey has no application to the present case.

Further, Dantzler is unable to show prejudice. In United States v. Coward, 669 F.2d 180 (4th Cir. 1982), the Fourth Circuit found no prejudice when the district court sent a copy of the indictment to the jury room as required by local rule. Coward complained the indictment was not edited to exclude language in the indictment referring to a co-defendant. The Fourth Circuit noted that “the jurors were instructed repeatedly that an indictment is only a formal charge and does not constitute evidence” and the district court informed the jurors he was omitting the portions that do not relate to the defendant. Id. at 184. The Fourth Circuit found the “admonitions effectively offset any hypothetical prejudice resulting from the jury’s receipt of the unedited indictment.” Id.

Therefore, the hypothetical prejudice alleged was offset by the trial court’s instructions. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial). “Harmless error rules . . . ‘serve a very useful purpose insofar as they block setting aside convictions for small errors or defects that have little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial.’” State v. White, 410 S.C. 56, 59, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (quoting Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 22 (1967)). An “error without prejudice does not warrant reversal.” State v. Page, 406 S.C. 272, 287, 750 S.E.2d 623, 631 (Ct. App. 2013) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

CONCLUSION